
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI

JACKSON DIVISION

DCI 122004 I I -

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

VS.
">T (7(i -J i

CRIMINAL NO LA((ff(. 7u
AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION and
AMSOUTH BANK

DEFERRED PROSECUTION AGREEMENT

Defendants AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION and AMSOUTH BANK, a wholly-

owned subsidiary of AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION (hereinafter collectively referred to as

"AmSouth"), by their undersigned attorney, pursuant to authority granted by their Boards of

Directors, and the United States enter into this Deferred Prosecution Agreement (hereinafter "the

Agreement").

1. AmSouth shall waive indictment and agree to the filing of a one count

information (hereinafter "the Information") in the United States District Court for the Southern

District of Mississippi charging it with failing to file suspicious activity reports in a timely,

complete and accurate manner, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 5318(g)(l) and 5322(b) and 31

C.F.R. § 103.18.

2. AmSouth accepts and acknowledges responsibility for its behavior as set forth in

the Statement of Facts attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein as Appdix A

(hereinafter "Statement of Facts").

3. AmSouth expressly agrees that it shall not, through its attorneys, board of

directors, agents, officers, employees, or any other representative make or adopt any public

statement contradicting any statement contained in this Agreement or the Statement of Facts,
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provided however, that AmSouth may avail itself of any legal or factual arguments available to it

in defending litigation regarding any matter discussed therein. Any such contradictory statement

by Am South, its attorneys, board of directors, agents, officers, employees, or any other

representative shall constitute a breach pursuant to paragraph 11 of this Agreement, and

AmSouth would thereafter be subject to prosecution pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

The decision whether AmSouth has breached this Agreement based upon any statement by any

person described in this paragraph which contradicts any information contained in the Statement

of Facts shall be in the sole discretion of the United States. If and when the United States

notifies AmSouth of a public statement by any such person that in whole or in part contradicts

any part of the Statement of Facts, AmSouth may avoid breach of this Agreement by publicly

repudiating such statement within 48 hours after notification by the United States. Paragraph 11

sets forth the terms and conditions applicable to any breach of this Agreement by AmSouth.

4. AmSouth agrees that it shall provide to the United States, on request, any relevant

document, electronic data, or other object in AmSouth's possession, custody and/or control

concerning a Bank Secrecy Act matter and/or any matter charged in the Information subject to

the Right to Financial Privacy Act and any other applicable laws and regulations. AmSouth

further agrees that it will completely, fully and timely comply with all legal obligations, record

keeping and reporting requirements imposed upon it by the Bank Secrecy Act, 31 U.S.C. §

5311 et seq., and implementing regulations thereunder, 31 C.F.R. Part 103, and the Federal

Reserve's substantially similar regulations codified at 12 C.F.R. §S 208.62 and 208.63.
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5. As a result of AmSouth's conduct, as set forth in the Statement of Facts, pursuant

to 18 U.S.C. § 981 (a)(1 )(A), AmSouth's interests in certain forfeitable real and personal property

could be subject to a civil forfeiture action. The United States agrees that any civil forfeiture

claims it has against AmSouth or its property will be satisfied and compromised by AmSouth's

payment of the sum of $40 million pursuant to this paragraph and forfeiture of that amount to the

United States. Accordingly, the United States and AmSouth hereby expressly agree to settle, and

do settle, any and all claims that each could have made in any such civil forfeiture action.

6. Because AmSouth agrees to

(a) acknowledge responsibility for its actions as set forth in the Statement of

Facts;

(b) continue its cooperation with the United States;

(c) demonstrate its future good conduct and full compliance with the Bank

Secrecy Act and all of its implementing regulations;

(d) demonstrate full compliance with any and all grand jury subpoenas issued

to it by any state or federal grand jury; and

(e) pay the sum of $40 million pursuant to paragraph 5 of this Agreement;

the United States shall recommend to the Court, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §

3161 (h)(2), that prosecution of AmSouth on the Information filed pursuant to paragraph I of this

Agreement be deferred for a period of twelve (12) months. AmSouth shall consent to a motion,

the contents to be agreed by the parties, to be filed by the United States with the Court, promptly

upon execution of this Agreement, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3161 (h)(2), in which the United

States will present this Agreement to the Court and move for a continuance of all further criminal
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proceedings, including trial, for a period of twelve (12) months, for speedy trial exclusion of all

time covered by such a continuance, and for approval by the Court of this deferred prosecution.

AmSouth further agrees to waive and does hereby expressly waive any and all rights to a speedy

trial pursuant to the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, 18 U.S.C. § 3161,

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 48(b), and any applicable Local Rules of the United States

District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi for the time period that this Agreement is

in effect.

7. AmSouth hereby further expressly agrees that any violations of the Bank Secrecy

Act pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 5318, 5321 and 5322, and any violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1503,

1512 and 1517, that were not time-barred by the applicable statute of limitations on September 1,

2004, may, in the sole discretion of the United States, be charged against AmSouth,

notwithstanding the expiration of any applicable statute of limitations, if the United States

determines that AmSouth is in material breach of this Agreement subject to the cure provisions

herein.

8. The United States agrees that if AmSouth is in compliance with all of its

obligations under this Agreement in all material respects, the United States, within thirty (30)

days of the expiration of the time period set forth in paragraph 6 above, will seek dismissal with

prejudice of the Information filed against AmSouth pursuant to paragraph 1 of this Agreement.

Upon such dismissal of the Information, this Agreement shall expire. The expiration of this

Agreement does not relieve AmSouth of the responsibility of complying with all applicable laws

and regulations. The expiration of this Agreement does not alter or affect AmSouth's

responsibility to its banking regulators, including but not limited to the Federal Reserve, the

Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta, the Alabama State Banking Department, and FinCEN.
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9. AmSouth and the United States understand that the Agreement to defer

prosecution of AmSouth must be approved by the Court, in accordance with 18 U.S.C. §

3161 (h)(2). Should the Court decline to approve a deferred prosecution for any reason, both the

United States and AmSouth are released from any obligation imposed upon them by this

Agreement, and this Agreement shall be null and void.

10. Should the United States, in its sole discretion, determine during the term of this

Agreement that AmSouth has committed any federal crime commenced subsequent to the date of

this Agreement, AmSouth shall thereafter be subject to prosecution for any federal crimes of

which the United States has knowledge. Except in the event of a willful and material breach of

this Agreement, it is the intention of the parties to this Agreement that all criminal, civil and

regulatory investigations arising from AmSouth's conduct or the facts contained in or involving

the persons and/or accounts described in this Agreement and its exhibit, including the Statement

of Facts, that have been or could have been conducted by the United States prior to the date of

this Agreement shall not be pursued further against AmSouth.

11. Should the United States, in its sole discretion, determine that AmSouth has

committed a willful and material breach of any provision of this Agreement, the United States

shall provide written notice to AmSouth of the alleged breach and provide AmSouth with a two-

week period in which to make a presentation to the United States Attorney for the Southern

District of Mississippi to demonstrate that no breach has occurred or, to the extent applicable,

that the breach is not willful or material or has been cured. The parties hereto expressly

understand and agree that should AmSouth fail to make a presentation to the United States

Attorney for the Southern District of Mississippi within the said two-week period, it shall be

conclusively presumed that AmSouth is in willful and material breach of this Agreement. The
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parties further understand and agree that the United States Attorney for the Southern District of

Mississippi's exercise of discretion under this paragraph is-not subject to review in any court or

tribunal. In the event of a breach of this Agreement that results in a prosecution, such

prosecution may be premised upon any information provided by or on behalf of AmSouth to the

United States at any time. Further, in the event of a breach, the $40 million payment by

AmSouth pursuant to paragraph 5 will be returned to AmSouth.

12. AmSouth agrees that if it sells or merges all or substantially all of its business

operations as they exist as of the date of this Agreement, it shall include in any contract for sale

or merger a provision binding the purchaser/successor to the obligations described in this

Agreement.

13. It is further understood that this Agreement is binding on AmSouth and the

United States, but specifically does not bind any other federal agencies, or any state or local

authorities, although the United States will bring the cooperation of AmSouth and its compliance

with its other obligations under this Agreement to the attention of state or local prosecuting

offices or any state or federal regulatory agencies, if requested by AmSouth or its attorneys.

14. It is further understood that this Agreement does not relate to or cover any civil or

criminal conduct by AmSouth other than the conduct described in, or arising from the facts

contained in or involving the persons and/or accounts described in, the Agreement and its

exhibit, including the Statement of Facts.

15. AmSouth and the United States agree that, upon acceptance by the Court, this

Agreement and a proposed Order deferring prosecution shall be filed in the United States District

Court for the Southern District of Mississippi. AmSouth and the United States further agree that

Exhibit I to Appendix A of this Agreement, which contains information concerning specific
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accounts and reporting of suspicious activity, will be filed under seal and shall remain under seal.

AmSouth and the United States further agree that the information contained in Exhibit 1 may be

revealed at some point in time when and if AmSouth is finally determined to be in material

breach of this Agreement.

16. AmSouth acknowledges that the unitary structure for its audit and compliance

functions contributed to the absence of a system of independent checks and balances, and

thereby contributed to the problems described in the Information, this Agreement, and the

Statement of Facts.

17. AmSouth has revised its policies, procedures and practices with respect to

responding to grand jury subpoenas to ensure that all responses are complete and timely.

18. The United States agrees that if AmSouth complies with all of the terms of this

Agreement and agrees to accept responsibility for all of the conduct described in the Statement

of Facts, then the United States will not prosecute any current or former AmSouth employee

based upon any of the conduct described in this Agreement and its exhibit, including the

Statement of Facts.

19. This Agreement sets forth all the terms of the Deferred Prosecution Agreement

between AmSouth and the United States. No promises, agreements or conditions have been

entered into other than those expressly set forth in this Agreement, and none shall be entered into

and/or be binding upon AmSouth or the United States unless expressly set forth in writing,

signed by the United States, AmSouth's attorneys, and a duly authorized representative of

AmSouth and physically attached to this Agreement. This Agreement supersedes any prior

promises, agreements or conditions between AmSouth and the United States.
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ACINOWLEDGEMENTS

I, T. Kurt Miller, the duly authorized representative of AmSouth Bank, hereby
expressly acknowledges the following: (1) that I have read this entire Deferred Prsecutlon
Agreement and all attachments hereto, and the other documents led In the United States District
Court for the Southern District of Mississippi in conjunction with this Agreement, lnniudmg the
bfoimation (2) that I have bed an opportunity to discuss this Agreement fully and freely with
AmSouth's attorneys; (3) that AmSoutli fully and completely understands each and every one of
its terms; (4) that AmSouth is fully satisfied with the advice and representation provided to it by
its attorneys; and (5) that ArnSouth has signed this Agreement voluntarily.

Li1L1
T. KURT MILLER
General Counsel

tC'€
DATE

COUNSEL FOR AMSOVTH BANCOPOR4TION AND AMSOUTU BANK

We, counsel for AmSouth Bancorporation and AmSouth Banks hereby expressly
acknowledge the following (I) that we have discussed this Agreement with our clients (2) that
we have fully explained each one of its terms to our clients; (3) that we have fully answered each
and every question put to us by our clients regarding the Agreement; and (4) we believe That our
clients c let understand all of the Agreement's terms.

__________
/2

SKAD , ABPS, SLATE, MEAGHER DATE
& FLOM LLP

Tucker, Esq.

DATE

Attorneys for AmSouth Bancorporation and AmSouth Bank

RpbertS. Rcnnett Esq.
Andrew L Sandier, Esq.
Benjamin B, Kiubes, Esq.
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ON BEHALF OF THE UNITED STATES

DU1'N LAMPTON
United States Attorney
Southern District of Mississippi

DATE

CTHIA L. ELDDGE
Aistant United States Attorney
Criminal Division
United States Attorney's Office
Southern District of Mississippi

A TRiE COPY I HEREBY CERTF
•-m J.T OBUN, CLERK

/ DEPUTY CLERK

DAI4E
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURTE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI

B',
JACKSON DIVISION

FILED

L OCT 12 2004J
j T NO9LN CLERI<

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

VS. CRIMINAL NO. 3. DC( ('i
AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION and
AMSOUTH BANK

The United States Attorney charges:

31 U.S.C. § 5318(g)(1)
31 U.S.C. § 5322(b)

At all times relevant to this Information, Defendant AMSOUTH BANK, a wholly-owned

subsidiary of Defendant AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION, was a financial institution as defined

in Section 5312, Title 31, United States Code, and Section 103.11(n)(1), Title 31, Code of Federal

Regulations, that is an insured bank.

From on or about Januaiy, 2000, and continuing through July, 2004, in Hinds County in the

Jackson Division of the Southern Judicial District of Mississippi, and elsewhere, Defendants,

AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION and AMSOUTH BANK, did knowingly and willfully (1) fail

to report suspicious transactions, and (2) fail to report suspicious transactions in a timely manner,

and (3) fail to report suspicious transactions in an accurate manner, relevant to possible violations

of law or regulations, as required by the Secretary of the Treasury,

All in violation of Title 31, United States Code, Sections 531 8(g)( 1) and 5322(b) and Title

31, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 103.18.

A TRUE COPY, I HEREBY CERTIFY
J.T. NOBLIN, CLERK

BY:
United States Attorney

DEPUTY CLERK
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COUR
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI

JACKSON DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

VS.

AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION and
AMSOUTH BANK

The United States Attorney charges:

FILED

LOCT 12 2UOJ
j T NOBLIN CLERK

CRIMINAL NO. 3.
31 U.S.C. § 5318(g)(1)
31 U.S.C. § 5322(b)

At all times relevant to this information, Defendant AMSOUTH BANK, a wholly-owned

subsidiary of Defendant AMSOUTH BANCORP ORATION, was a financial institution as defined

in Section 5312, Title 31, United States Code, and Section 103.11 (n)( 1), Title 31, Code of Federal

Regulations, that is an insured bank.

From on or about January, 2000, and continuing through July, 2004, in Hinds County in the

Jackson Division of the Southern Judicial District of Mississippi, and elsewhere, Defendants,

AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION and AMSOUTH BANK, did knowingly and willfully (1) fail

to report suspicious transactions, and (2) fail to report suspicious transactions in a timely manner,

and (3) fail to report suspicious transactions in an accurate manner, relevant to possible violations

of law or regulations, as required by the Secretary of the Treasury,

All in violation of Title 31, United States Code, Sections 53 18(g)(l) and 5322(b) and Title

31, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 103.18.

A TRUE COPY, I HEREBY CERTIFY
J.T. NOBLIN, CLERK

BY:

CLERK

United States Attorney
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Case 3:04-cr-001 67-TSL-JCS Document 5 FUed 10/12/2005 Page 1 of 3

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI

JACKSON DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

V. Criminal No. 3:04-cr-167LSu

AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION and
AMSOUTH BANK,

Defendants.

UNITED STATES MOTION
TO DISMISS INFORMATION

The UNITED STATES OF AMERICA (the "United States") respectfully moves this

Court for entry of an Order dismissing, with prejudice, the one-count Information against

Defendants AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION and AMSOUTH BANK, a wholly-owned

subsidiary of AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION ("AmSouth"). As grounds, the United States

shows the Court as follows:

1. On October 12, 2004, the United States and AmSouth entered into a Deferred

Prosecution Agreement ("Agreement") in the above-styled matter.

2. As part of the Agreement, AmSouth agreed to waive indictment and agreed to the

filing of a one (1)-count Information in the United States District Court for the Southern District

of Mississippi, charging AmSouth with failing to file Suspicious Activity Reports in a timely,

complete and accurate manner, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 5318(g)(1) and 5322(b) and 31

C.F.R. § 103.18.
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Case 3:04-cr-001 67-TSL-JCS Document 5 Filed 10/12/2005 Page 2 of 3

3. On October 12, 2004, the United States and AmSouth jointly moved for approval

of the Agreement and Exclusion of Time Under the Speedy Trial Act. On the same date, this

Court entered an order approving the Agreement and Exclusion of Time Under the Speedy Trial

Act.

4. The United States recommended that the Information be defened for a period of

twelve (12) months.

5. Pursuant to paragraph 8 of the Agreement, the United States agrees that AmSouth

has met and fulfilled its obligations under the terms and conditions of the Agreement.

Accordingly, the United States moves the Court to dismiss the Information with prejudice.

DATED this the 12th day of October, 2005.

Respectfully submitted,
DUNN LAMPTON
United States Attorney

By: s/Cynthia L. Eldridge
CYNTHIA L. ELDRIDGE
Assistant United States Attorney
188 B. Capitol Street, Suite 500
Jackson, MS 39201
(601) 973-2848
MS Bar No. 9634
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Case 3:04-cr-00167-TSL-JCS Document 5 Filed 10/12/2005 Page 3 of 3

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, CYNTHIA L. ELDRIDGE, Assistant United States Attorney, hereby certify that on

October 12, 2005, I electronically filed the foregoing United States' Motion to Dismiss

Information with the Clerk of Court using the ECF system and sent notification of such filing to

the following by e-mail:

Anthony A. Joseph, Esq.
Johnston Barton Proctor & Powell LLP
2900 AmSouth/Harbert Plaza
1901 Sixth Avenue North
Birmingham, Alabama 35203-26 18
e-mail notification address: A :om

s/Cynthia L. Eldridge
Assistant United States Attorney
Criminal Division
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Case 3:04-cr-OO16iSL-JCS Document 6 FiI 10113/2005

N T}IE ZJPZTED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTRERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSftJ

JACtSON DIVISiON

UNITED STATES Or AMERICA
)Plaintiff, )

Criminal No. 3;04-cr-167-L$u

Undants.

ORDER GRANTING TH1 UNITED STATES
!OT)ON TO D1SM1SJNpRMATION

Pane 1_of I

R 07

This csuc is before the Court on the Unued States' Motion to Dsmiss Information and

Deferred Proaccutioti Agrecmert. 8avirg considered the motion1 the Court finds that the motion

is well Lakcu and should be granted

IT IS THEREIORE ORDERED thM the thitcd States Motion to Dismiss the ofte-count

Information against Defendants AMSOUTh BANCORPORATION and AMSOUTkI BANK

(AmSouth") is hereby gontcd. and the Infonnatiort is hereby dismissed with prçjudicc.

IT IS IUR1IIER ORDERED that pursuant to pazagraph B of the Deferred Prosecution

Agreement between the United States and AmSouth, that Agrccrnent shail cxpire upon the filing

of this Order.

IT IS FURThER ORDE)tED that Echibit ito the Statement of Facts filed in conjunction

with the Deferred t'rosecuti°n Agreement, which cont5ifls specttic customer irtfornation, shall

remain under seaL

SO ORDERED, this the 4L.._. day 2005.

UNITEDS'cTJU
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